

International Journal of Innovative Research and Reviews

ISSN: 2636-8919 Website: www.injirr.com

doi: Research paper, Short communication, Review, Technical paper



RESEARCH ARTICLE

Phytochemicals and Proximate Compositions of Cocoa-based Silage

¹ Christie Oluwatosin RAIMI^{1,*} Abiodun Adefunmilayo ADELOYE²

¹ Department of Agricultural Technology, School of Agriculture and Agricultural Technology, Federal Polytechnic, Ado-Ekiti, Ekiti State, Nigeria

² Department of Animal Production, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Ilorin, Ilorin, Kwara State, Nigeria

* Corresponding author E-mail: christosinr@gmail.com

HIGHLIGHTS

> The fermentation was found to influence the proximate composition of the silage

> The ensiling of the combined diets was found to influence the phytochemicals present in the silage.

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Received : 04.06.2022 Accepted : 05.13.2022 Published : 07.15.2022	Presently, agro-industrial by-products are used as livestock feeds. There is a need to determine the nutritional properties of these products prior to using them as animal feeds. The qualitative phytochemical analysis revealed the presence of tannins, Phenol, Phlobatannins and Resin Proximate analysis showed that the fermentation had significantly
Keywords: Polyphenols cocoa pod cassava pulp acacia leaf phytochemicals proximate composition	increased the Protein (15.90-22.12%), Carbohydrate (16.37–45.26%), Calcium (26.09 – 35.81ppm), Phosphorus (1.14–1.18ppm), Potassium (2.79–2.98ppm), Butyric acids (2.59– $3.11\mu g/100g$), Gallic acids (0.01–0.11mg/kg) and Caloric values (1x103 to 11.5x103KJ/kg) of the silage from Diet 1 to Diet 5(0-100% cocoa pod and cassava pulp). The highest value of crude protein (22.12%) was observed for Diet 5 (50-100% cocoa pod inclusion). Diet 5(50-100% cocoa pod) also had the lowest value for crude fiber (6.08%); fat (0.88%) and highest value for Calcium (35.81ppm) and calories values (11.50 x 103KJ/kg). This result showed that the combinations were a promising source of protein in animal diet if well processed. All the concentrations of anti-nutrients were found to be within acceptable levels for human and animal consumption

Contents	
1. Introduction	12
2. Materials and Methods	13
2.1. Study Area	13
2.2. Experimental Design	13
2.3. Experimental-Procedure	13
2.3.1. Silage Preparation	13
2.4. Data Collection	13
2.4.1. Proximate Analysis of Coco-based Diets	13
2.5. Minerals	13
2.6. Qualitative Determination of Phytochemical Analysis	13
2.6.1. Tannin Content	13
2.6.2. Phlobatanins Content	13
2.6.3. Phenols Content	13
2.6.4. Resin Content	14
2.7. Statistical Analysis	14
3. Results	14
3.1. Physicochemical Values of Cocoa-based Silage	14
Cite this article Raimi CO, Adeloye AA. Phytochemicals and Proximate Compositions of Cocoa-based Silage. International Journal	ıl of Innovative

Research and Reviews (INJIRR) (2022) 6(1) 11-16 Link to this article: <u>http://www.injirr.com/article/view/98</u>



Copyright © 2022 Authors.

This is an open access article distributed under the <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, and sharing of this material in any medium, provided the original work is not modified or used for commercial purposes.

3.2. Phytochemical Contents in the Silage	.14
4. Discussion	14
5. Conclusion	.15
Acknowledgements	.15
Ethics approval	. 15
Funding	15
Declaration of Conflict of Interest	14
References	14
	• • • •

1. Introduction

Phytochemicals are metabolites found in plant-originated feeds such as trees, forages, grasses, agro-industrial byproducts, etc. They are majorly responsible for health improvement in plant-based feeds apart from the supplement of minerals and vitamins [1]. They are regarded as antinutrients but have some nutritional, chemical, biological and pharmacological properties [2, 3]. To preserve some of these feeds and derive the benefits of phytochemicals in them, there is a need for ensiling which supports natural acid fermentation under anaerobic conditions [4]. Browse plants are known to have high potentials in feed resources for livestock especially during the gap periods due to their phytochemical's properties, vitamins and minerals supplement [5]. There is a need to sought out for browse plants that are nutritious and available throughout all the seasons [6]. Acacia leaves (Figure 1) are rich in protein (about 13-24%); low in Nutrient detergent fiber (NDF) and condensed tannins [7]. It is one of the upper potential degradability within 48hours and in vitro organic matter (OM) was just medium [8]. Most browse species such as Acacia leaf investigated showed possession of essential ingredients which recommended as valuable browse plants [9].



Figure 1 Acacia leaf

Many agricultural by-products such as cocoa pod (Figure 2), cassava pulp (Figure 3) and peel are normally used for all seasons because they are available at the time. These agricultural by-products were avoided by farmers due to their low nutritional quality which requires necessary preparation physically or chemically before animal feeding [10]. Cocoa pod had low crude proteins (0.31%); ash (1.48%); Ether extract (0.12%); high moisture content (80.06%) and carbohydrates (11.03%) in fresh weights [11, 12]. The fresh cocoa pod contained 0.40% theobromine

which can be reduced or minimized during fermentation [13].



Figure 2 Cocoa pod



Figure 3 Cassava pulp

It had also been observed that a low quantity of *Theobromine* is found in the husks [14]. The cocoa pod also contained phenolic and caffeic acids [15]. Cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) is a dietary staple feeds in the tropics, it thrives and produces stable yields under unfavorable conditions which other plants cannot tolerate [16]. Cassava pulp contained crude protein (1.2-2.8%); Dry matter (15.8-23.4%); crude fiber (17.9-24.0%); fat (0.1-2.4%); ash (1.7-2.8%) and NFE (55.0-74.4%) on dry matter basis [17].

However, Aro [18] reported that fermentation increased the crude protein and reduced the crude fibre. It also helps to detoxify the toxic substances and improved the textures and flavours of the silage [19]. Sun [20] reported that the microorganisms typically associated with cassava fermentation are mainly acid bacteria. Thus, assessing the proximate and phytochemical properties of these agro by-products and browse plants is very important to determine

their nutritional significance. Likewise, to confirm their nutritional potency before introducing them as animal feeds.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Study Area

The research experimented at the Ruminant section of the Teaching and Research farm, and chemical analyses were done in the nutrition laboratory of the Animal production department, Landmark University, Omu Aran, Kwara State, Nigeria.

2.2. Experimental Design

A 5×6 full factorial design was adopted using cocoa pods and cassava pulp at (0, 25, 50, 75, and 100%) with the inclusion of Acacia leaf at 0,10, 20, 30, 40, and 50% levels (Table 1).

	Diets (as Composition of Cassava pulp/Cocoa pod/Acacia leaf)						
	Diet 1	Diet 2	Diet 3	Diet 4	Diet 5		
(0)	100/0/0	75/25/0	50/50/0	25/75/0	0/100/0		
(10)	90/0/10	67.5/22.5/10	45/45/10	22.5/67.5/10	0/90/10		
(20)	80/0/20	60/20/20	40/40/20	20/60/20	0/80/20		
(30)	70/0/30	52.5/17.5/30	35/35/30	17.5/52.5/30	0/70/30		
(40)	60/0/40	45/15/40	30/30/40	15/45/40	0/60/40		
(50)	50/0/50	37.5/12.5/50	25.0/25.0/50	12.5/37.5/50	0/50/50		

Table 1 Ensiled combinations of Cocoa based diets

2.3. Experimental-Procedure

2.3.1. Silage Preparation

Cocoa pods were gotten from a cocoa farm in Ekiti state, sundried for some days, grounded to small particle size. The cassava pulp was collected from cassava processing industries in Ondo state. The pulp was sundried for 5hrs to reduce the cyanide and moisture content. The Acacia leaves were also gotten from the pasture plant of the farm. The combinations were mixed together with fermentable carbohydrates (banana slurry) based on the graded levels of the experimental designs. Each group was ensiled in 200 liters capacity plastic drums under anaerobic conditions for 7 weeks (Figure 4) [21].



Figure 4 Ensiled cocoa pod, cassava pulp and Acacia leaf Diet

2.4. Data Collection

2.4.1. Proximate Analysis of Coco-based Diets

2.4.1.1. Moisture Content

This was determined by using a standard procedure of AOAC [22] which is based on the mass loss of the sample till it reached a constant mass of $100 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$

2.4.1.2. Ash Content

Ash content is determined by the method described by AOAC [22], which consists of burning the silage till white ashes are got in a muffle furnace under a temperature of 550° C.

2.4.1.3. Ether Extract

The ether extract was also determined by the method of AOAC [22] using the Soxhlet extractor. This was achieved after the evaporation of the solvent and the drying of the silage in the oven at a temperature of 105°C for 28mins. The differences in the weight of the samples provided the ether extract of the silage.

2.4.1.4. Crude Protein

This was determined by assaying total nitrogen using the Kjedahl method of AOAC [22]. This is achieved using Sulphuric mineralization, the nitrogen content gotten was multiplied by the conversion-coefficient of nitrogen into protein.

2.4.1.5. Crude Fiber

The crude fiber was determined by the method of AOAC [22] in a muffle furnace at 500°C for 3hrs.

2.4.1.6. Carbohydrate

This is done by the method described by AOAC [22].

2.4.1.7. Energy Value

The energy value of the silage is calculated with the coefficient of AOAC [22] for the proteins, lipids and carbohydrates.

2.5. Minerals

The minerals were determined by the method described by AOAC [22] which was measured out in the ash with electronic scanning using an absorption spectrophotometer to obtain the mineral contents.

2.6. Qualitative Determination of Phytochemical Analysis

2.6.1. Tannin Content

The assaying of tannins was done according to the method described by Trease [23]. The absorbance is read with a spectrophotometer at 500mm. The green color observed confirmed the presence of tannins in the samples.

2.6.2. Phlobatanins Content

This was also carried out according to the method described by Trease [23]. The red color confirmed the Phlobatannins presence.

2.6.3. Phenols Content

The phenols are determined according to the method described by Trease [23]. The blue- green color confirmed the presence of phenol in the silage.

2.6.4. Resin Content

This was also determined using the method of Trease [23]. The orange color confirmed the presence of Resin in the samples.

2.7. Statistical Analysis

The comparisons of the values of the physical-chemicals parameters are subjected to SPSS, version 20 [24]. The analysis of variance followed the Duncan multiple Range test and the significance of differences of average was obtained with a risk error of p<0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Physicochemical Values of Cocoa-based Silage

The study of the physico-chemical composition was determined in Table 2. The results revealed that fermentation increased crude protein, carbohydrate, calcium, phosphorus, potassium, butyric acids (BA), gallic acids (GA), and caloric values of the silage from Diet 1 to Diet 5 (0-100% cocoa pod and cassava pulp), while it decreased the moisture crude fiber, ash, lipid, moisture, Silicate, Acid detergent fibre (ADF), Acid detergent lipids (ADL), Neutral detergent acids, Hemicellulose and Cellulose from Diet 1 to Diet 5.

Table 2 Physico-chemical composition of Cocoa based silage per diet

Parameters	Diet 1	Diet 2	Diet 3	Diet 4	Diet 5	P value
Crude protein (%)	15.90 ^d	16.52 ^c	16.76 ^c	19.18 ^b	22.12 ^a	< 0.001
Carbohydrate (%)	45.26 ^a	40.78 ^b	38.06 ^c	26.13 ^d	16.37 ^e	< 0.001
Crude Fibre (%)	6.21	6.13	6.12	6.09	6.08	0.396
Crude Lipids (%)	0.88	0.75	0.38	0.35	0.29	0.501
Moisture (%)	66.69 ^a	48.38 ^b	33.11 ^c	26.88 ^c	26.01 ^c	< 0.001
Ash (%)	3.23	3.10	3.10	3.09	3.09	0.221
Silicate (%)	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.856
ADF (%)	0.47	0.50	0.45	0.41	0.39	0.993
ADL (%)	0.52	0.69	0.63	0.41	0.35	0.765
NDF (%)	1.19	0.92	0.89	0.79	0.73	0.573
Hemicellulose(%)	1.74	1.67	1.21	1.15	1.07	0.578
Cellulose (%)	1.11	1.16	1.01	0.95	0.89	0.984
Lignin (%)	1.63	2.54	2.21	2.09	1.93	0.392
BA (μg/100g)	2.79	2.59	2.82	2.94	3.11	0.984
GA (mg/kg)	0.11	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.452
Phosphorus (ppm)	1.18	1.14	1.14	1.14	1.16	0.658
Calcium (ppm)	26.55 ^c	26.09 ^c	26.94 ^c	31.31 ^b	35.81ª	< 0.001
Potassium (ppm)	2.79	2.79	2.80	2.88	2.98	0.989
Calories (KJ/kg)	4.1 ^e x103	7.2 ^d x103	9.7 ^{bc} x103	10.9 ^b x103	11.5 ^a x103	< 0.001

^{abcde} On the same line, the averages followed by different letters are significantly different (p<0.05);</p>

Diet 1: 0% CoP; Diet 2 : 12.5%-25% CoP; Diet 3= 25%-50% CoP; Diet 4: 37.5%-75% CoP; Diet 50 : 50%-100% CoP

The mean crude protein, carbohydrate, crude fiber, lipid, moisture content, ash, silicate, hemicellulose, butyric acids, gallic acids, phosphorus, calcium, potassium and calories values ranges from 15.90 - 22.12%; 16.37 - 45.26%; 6.08 - 6.21%; 0.29 - 0.88%; 26.01 - 66.69%; 3.09 - 3.23%; 0.02 - 0.03%; 0.39 - 0.52%; 1.07 - 1.74%; 0.89 - 1.11%; 1.63 - 2.54%; $2.59 - 3.11(\mu g/100g)$; 0.01 - 0.11(m g/kg); 1.14 - 1.18ppm; 26.09 - 35.81ppm; 2.79 - 2.98ppm and 4.1×10^3 to 11.5×10^3 (KJ/kg) respectively.

The highest value of crude protein (22.12%) was observed for Diet 5 (50-100% cocoa pod) while Diet 1 (50-100% cassava pulp) had the lowest value (6.37%) for carbohydrate. Diet 5(50-100% cocoa pod) also had the lowest value of 6.08% for crude fiber; a highest value of 0.88% for lipid; a highest value of 35.81ppm for Calcium and 11.50 x 10^{3} (KJ/kg) for calories values. So, fermentation had a significant (p>0.05) effect on crude fiber, lipid, ash, silicate, Hemicellulose, lignin, Gallic acid, Butyric acid, Phosphorus and Potassium on the combinations of the cocoa pod, cassava pulp and acacia leaf.

3.2. Phytochemical Contents in the Silage

Phytochemical's screening of tannins, phenol, Phlobatannins and resin are found in all the silage under study (Table 3). All the diets contained the phytochemicals mentioned except Diet 1_0 ; Diet 2_{10} and Diet 4_{50} which showed the absence of these secondary metabolites.

Table 3 Phytochemicals screening of Cocoa based Silage

Samples	Cocoa pod (%)	Tannins	Phenol	Phenol Phlobatannins	
Diet1 ₀	0%	_	_		_
Diet2 ₀	25%	_	_	+	+
Diet30	50%	_	_	+	+
Diet4 ₀	75%	_	_	+	
Diet50	100%	+	_	+	
Diet110	0%	+	_	+	_
Diet210	22.5%	_	_	_	_
Diet310	45%	+	_	+	_
Diet410	67.5%	+	_	+	_
Diet510	90%			_	+
Diet1 ₂₀	0%	+	_	+	+
Diet220	20%	+	_	+	_
Diet320	40%	+	_	+	_
Diet420	60%	+	_	_	+
Diet520	80%	+	+	+	+
Diet1 ₃₀	0%	+	_	+	_
Diet2 ₃₀	17.5%	+	_	_	+
Diet3 ₃₀	35%	+	+	+	+
Diet4 ₃₀	52.5%	+	_	_	_
Diet5 ₃₀	70%	+	+	_	+
Diet140	0%	+	_	+	_
Diet240	15%	+	_	_	+
Diet340	30%	+	+	_	+
Diet440	45%	+	_	_	_
Diet540	60%	+	+	_	_
Diet150	0%	+	_	_	_
Diet250	12.5%	+			
Diet350	25%	+		+	+
Diet450	37.5%			_	
Diet5 ₅₀	50%	+	+		

+ : present ---- : absent

4. Discussion

The increase in protein content after fermentation among the groups in this study corroborates the findings of Omotoso [25] who also reported the increase in crude protein values of fermented cocoa pod. The increase in crude protein is in agreement with the reports of Okoruwa [26] in a study of a mixture of groundnut shell and rice straw which found that the microbial fermentation increased the protein content of the mixtures. This also was similar to Ozung et al. [27] who had an increase in crude protein values for a fermented cocoa-pod. Likewise, the crude fiber content of the silage in this study declined from 6.21 to 6.08%. This agreed with the

report by Olugosi [28] who indicated a decline in cocoa pod fermentation. Moreover, the decline in moisture contents in this study was in agreement with Bwai, [29] who reported a reduction in moisture content when using Acacia leaf meal. Fermentation also increased the mineral contents of the silage which is in tandem with the reports of [29] who revealed the presence of some essential minerals when using Acacia leaf. The major minerals in these combinations are calcium, phosphorus, potassium as reported by Marcel [30] and Meffeja [31]. The phytochemical investigation likewise revealed tannin, phenol, Phlobatannins, and resin. This was similar to the reports of [29] who also indicated the essential phytochemicals present in his study. Tannins as one of the phytochemicals possess antiviral, anti-parasitic and antibacterial ability. From the study, it was observed that phytochemicals such as tannins decreased after fermentation. During fermentation, there is hydrolyzation of tannins due to its sensitivity to acidic conditions, there are certain amount of acid produced by acetic acid bacteria which lowered pH and reduced tannin contents; which is in tandem with the reports of Djali [32]. In addition, Martinez-Pinilla [33] confirmed that the existence of tannin is inversely proportional to the amount of theobromine in cocoa products. Yulistiani [34] also affirmed that fermentation reduced phytochemicals contents and increased digestibility of the protein contents in the diets. So, this silage is expected to have many medicinal uses.

5. Conclusion

The Physico-chemical composition had shown that this silage has essential nutritional composition. They contained a significant quantity of proteins, minerals, fiber, and lipid contents. The presence of phytochemicals in the silage and lower moisture content provided the capacity to be preserved for a long period time. Fermentation had helped in the detoxification of toxic substances in the silage. These diets have helped to limit the anti-nutritional substances and improved the availability of protein and minerals in the silage.

Acknowledgements

The authors sincerely acknowledge the TETFUND support from Federal Polytechnic, Ado Ekiti, Ekiti State, Nigeria. The author also would like to thank to the staff of Landmark University, Omu Aran, Kwara State for the immeasurable help offered during this research: Dr. S. O. Olawoye, Dr A. J. Soyombo, Dr A. F. Lukman, Dr Solomon, Mr V. O. Fajobi and Mr I. C. Ilohi, Mr V. T. Dojumo, Mr J. A. Akinwumi and Mr Peter. I'm indebted to Mrs Peter (Afe Babalola University, Ado Ekiti, Ekiti State, Nigeria.

Ethics approval

The authors confirm that the ethical policies of the journal, as noted on the journal authors guidelines have been adhered to. Approval to carry out the research and use of the animal was obtained from the ethics committee of the University of Ilorin, Kwara State, Nigeria.

Funding

Partial financial support was received from [TETFUND] Federal Polytechnic, Ado Ekiti, Ekiti state, Nigeria

Declaration of Conflict of Interest

Authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Webb D. Phytochemicals' Role in Good Health. Today's Dietitian (2014) 15(9):70.
- [2] Anigboro AA, Avwioroko OJ, Ohwokevwo OA, Pessu B, Tonukari NJ. Phytochemical profile, antioxidant, α-amylase inhibition, binding interaction and docking studies of Justicia carnea bioactive compounds with α-amylase. *Biophysical chemistry* (2021) **269**. doi:10.1016/J.BPC.2020.106529.
- [3] Anigboro AA, Avwioroko OJ, Ohwokevwo OA, Pessu B. Bioactive components of Ficus exasperata, Moringa oleifera and Jatropha tanjorensis leaf extracts and evaluation of their antioxidant properties - ProQuest. *EurAsian Journal of BioSciences* (2019) 13:1763–1769.
- [4] Álvarez S, Méndez P, Martínez-Fernández A. Fermentative and nutritive quality of banana by-product silage for goats. http://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?show=aimsS cope&journalCode=taar20#.VsXoziCLRhE (2014) 43(4):396–401. doi:10.1080/09712119.2014.978782.
- [5] Samuel I, Liu B-L. Nutritional Evaluation of Selected Browse Plants Consumed by Small Ruminants in Northern Sudan Savannah of Nigeria. Asian Journal of Advances in Agricultural Research (2018) 5(1):1–8. doi:10.9734/AJAAR/2018/38086.
- [6] Okukpe KM, Adeloye AA, Badmos AH, Adeyemi KD, Olaniran TO. Performance of West African Dwarf (WAD) Goats Fed Tridax and Siam Weed in Ficus Based Diets. *Agrosearch* (2012) 11(1):11– 18. doi:10.4314/agrosh.v11i1.2.
- [7] Abebe A, Tolera A, Holand O, Ådnøy T, Lo Eik. Seasonal variation in nutritive value of some browse and grass species in Borana Rangeland, Southern Ethiopia. *Tropical and Subtropical Agroecosystems* (2012) 15:261–271.
- [8] Ondiek JO, Abdulrazak SA, Njka EN. Chemical and mineral composition, in-vitro gas production, in-sacco degradation of selected indigenous Kenyan browses. *Livestock Research for Rural Development* (2010) 22(2):22.
- [9] Kemboi F, Ondiek JO, Onjoro PA. Evaluation of nutritive value and in-vitro degradation of selected indigenous browses from semi-arid areas of Kenya (2017) 29:5.
- [10] Kim YI, Lee YH, Kim KH, Oh YK, Moon YH, Kwak WS. Effects of Supplementing Microbially-fermented Spent Mushroom Substrates on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Hanwoo Steers (a Field Study). Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences (2012) 25(11):1575. doi:10.5713/AJAS.2012.12251.
- [11] Cruz VC, Araújo PC, Sartori JR, Pezzato AC, Denadai JC, Polycarpo GV, et al. Poultry offal meal in chicken: Traceability using the technique of carbon (13C12C)- and nitrogen (15N/14N)stable isotopes. *Poultry Science* (2012) **91**(2):478–486. doi:10.3382/ps.2011-01512.
- [12] Phuong NT, Mai HN, van Duy N, Ton VD. Reproductivity and egg quality of Hmong chicken. *Current status and future* (2017):27–32.
- [13] Munier H, Hartadi F. Theobromine content in cocoa pod husk (Theobroma cacao) fermented by Aspergillus spp. in different of chop sizes and fermentation times. In: *Proceedings* (2012). p. 197– 202.
- [14] Adamafio NA. Theobromine toxicity and remediation of cocoa byproducts: An overview. *Journal of Biological Sciences* (2013) 13(7):570–576. doi:10.3923/JBS.2013.570.576.
- [15] Fapohunda SO, Afolayan AO. Fermentation of Cocoa Beans and Antimicrobial Potentials of the pod Husk Phytochemicals. *Journal* of Physiology and Pharmacology (2012) 2(3):158–164.
- [16] Kenneth VR. Evaluation of three Cassava varieties for tuber quality and yield. Gladstone Road Agricultural Centre, Crop Research

Report. Department of Agriculture, Nassau, Bahamas (2011) **4**(December).

- [17] Lounglawan P, Khungaew M, Suksombat W. Silage production from cassava peel and cassava pulp as energy source in cattle diets. *Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances* (2011) **10**(8):1007– 1011. doi:10.3923/JAVAA.2011.1007.1011.
- [18] Aro SO, Aletor VA, Tewe OO, Agbede JO. Nutritional potentials of cassava tuber wastes: A case study of a cassava starch processing factory in south-western Nigeria. *Livestock Research for Rural Development* (2010) 22(11).
- [19] Khampa S, Chuelong S, Kosonkittiumporn S, Khejornsart P. Manipulation of yeast fermented Cassava Chip supplementation in dairy heifer raised under tropical condition. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition* (2010) 9(10):950–954. doi:10.3923/PJN.2010.950.954.
- [20] Sun L, Wan S, Yu Z, Wang Y, Wang S. Anaerobic biological treatment of high strength cassava starch wastewater in a new type up-flow multistage anaerobic reactor. *Bioresource technology* (2012) 104:280–288. doi:10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2011.11.070.
- [21] Olawoye SO, Okeniyi FA, Adeloye AA, Alabi OO, Shoyombo AJ, Animashahun RA, et al. Effects of formulated concentrate and palm kernel cake supplemen-tation on performance characteristics of growing West African dwarf (WAD) goat kids. *Nigerian Journal of Animal Science* (2020) 22(2):287–295.
- [22] AOAC. Association of Official Analytical Chemists. International official methods of analysis. 18, Washington, D.C USA (2005).
- [23] Trease WC, Evans GE. Pharmacognosy. 15th Edition, Saunders Publishers, London (2002). 42-44, 221-229, 246-249, 304-306, 331-332, 391-393.
- [24] SPSS 20.0. Statistical Computer Software. Chicago, IL, USA: SPSS Inc. (2014).
- [25] Omotoso OB. Nutritional potentials and in vitro estimation of composite cocoa pod husk-based diets for ruminants. *Bulletin of the National Research Centre* (2019) 43(1). doi:10.1186/S42269-019-0189-4.
- [26] Agbonlahor I, Okoruwa MI. Replacement value of cocoa pod husk with soursop pulp meals for Napier grass in the practical diet of West African dwarf sheep. *European Journal of Agriculture and Forestry Research* (2016) 4(5):1–11.
- [27] Ozung P, Kennedy OOO, Agiang EA. Chemical Composition of Differently Treated Forms of Cocoa POD Husk Meal (CPHM). *Asian Journal of Agricultural Sciences* (2016) 8(2):5–9. doi:10.19026/ajas.8.2912.
- [28] Olugosi OA, Agbede JO, Adebayo IA, Onibi GE, Ayeni OA. Nutritional enhancement of cocoa pod husk meal through fermentation using Rhizopus stolonifer. *African Journal of Biotechnology* (2019) **18**(30):901–908. doi:10.5897/AJB2019.16940.
- [29] Bwai MD, Uzama D, Abubakar SM, Olajide OO, Ikokoh PP, Magu JK. Proximate, elemental, phytochemical and anti-fungal analysis of Acacia nilotica fruit. *Pharmaceutical and Biological Evaluations* (2015) 2:52–59.
- [30] Kouamé B, Marcel G, André KB, Séraphin K-C. Waste and byproducts of cocoa in breeding: Research synthesis. *International Journal of Agronomy and Agricultural Research* (2011) 1(1):9–19.
- [31] Meffeja RB, Njifutie F, Manjeli N, Dongmo Y, Tehakounte T, Fombad J. Digestibilité et influence des rations contenant des niveaux croissants de coques de cacao sur les performances des porcs en croissance finition. *Livestock Research for Rural Development* (2006) 18(11):111.
- [32] Djali M, Setiasih IS, Rindiantika TS. Chemical characteristics, phytochemicals and cacao shell toxicity changes during the processing of cocoa beans. *Asian Journal of Agriculture and Biology* (2018) 6(1):103–114.
- [33] Martínez-Pinilla E, Oñatibia-Astibia A, Franco R. The relevance of theobromine for the beneficial effects of cocoa consumption. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* (2015) 6(FEB):30. doi:10.3389/FPHAR.2015.00030/BIBTEX.
- [34] Yulistiani D, Puastuti DW, Mathius I-W. Pengaruh Pencampuran Cairan Batang Pisang dan Pemanasan terhadap Degradasi Bungkil Kedelai di dalam Rumen Domba.